County Buildings, Martin Street,
Stafford ST16 2LH
Telephone: 0300 111 8000

COUNCIL AGENDA
To:- The Members of the Staffordshire County Council
Notice is given that the meeting of the Staffordshire County Council will be held in the
Council Chamber, County Buildings, Stafford at 10.00 am on Thursday, 25 July 2019 to
deal with the matters set out on the agenda.
John Henderson
Chief Executive
17 July 2019

AGENDA
(Note: The meeting will begin with prayers)
PART ONE
General Housekeeping and Declaring an Interest
1.

Apologies for absence (if any)

2.

Declarations of Interest under Standing Order 16

3.

Confirmation of the minutes of the Council meeting held on 23 May 2019 (Pages 5
- 20)

4.

Chairman's Correspondence
The Chairman will mention a range of recent items of news which may be of interest to
Members

5.

Statement of the Leader of the Council (Pages 21 - 26)
The Leader will inform the Council about his work and his plans for the Council, and will
give an overview of decisions taken by the Cabinet (and Portfolio Holders) since the
previous meeting of the Council

6.

Notices of Motion
Mr Wileman to move the following motion:
“The County Council values the importance of the UN’s 17 Sustainable Development
Goals including the global challenges of poverty, inequality, climate, environmental
degradation and prosperity, and welcomes the importance placed by HM Government
on all levels of government working together and that its partnership with local
government is a key component to successful domestic implementation of the SDGs
and that the county council has a vital role to play in terms of the planning,
implementation and monitoring in Staffordshire which will be key in delivering the UK’s
progress on meeting the ambitions of the Agenda 2030.
This County Council therefore:


Calls upon Her Majesty’s Government to explore supporting domestic
implementation of the Sustainable Development Goals through funded
partnership roles within each local authority area;



Encourages councils to continue their work on linking their local priorities with
the overall ambitions of the SDGs;



Declares a ‘Climate Emergency’, and commits to supporting Staffordshire
councils in their work to tackle climate change by providing a strong unified voice
for councils in lobbying for support to address this emergency, and sharing best
practice; and



The county council refreshes the good work of Hard Rain, Hard Rain 2 and
Green Shoots to meet these new targets and share best practice across all

councils.
7.

Recommendations to the Council (Pages 27 - 38)

8.

Staffordshire Corporate Parenting Panel - Annual Report 2018-19 (Pages 39 - 54)

9.

Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of Committees
Oral report of the Leader of the Council

10. Questions
Questions to be asked by Members of the County Council of the Leader of the Council,
a Cabinet Member, or a Chairman of a Committee. The question will be answered by
the relevant Member and the Member asking the question may then ask a follow up
question which will also be answered
11. Petitions
An opportunity for Members to present and speak on petitions submitted by their
constituents
12. Exclusion of the Public
The Chairman of the Council will move the following motion so that the County Council
can consider confidential business in private:“That the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business which
involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the paragraphs of Part
1 of Schedule 12A (as amended) of the Local Government Act 1972 indicated below”.

PART TWO
(All reports in this section are on pink paper)
Nil

Note for Members of the Press and Public
Filming of Meetings
The Open (public) section of this meeting may be filmed for live or later broadcasting or
other use, and, if you are at the meeting, you may be filmed, and are deemed to have
agreed to being filmed and to the use of the recording for broadcast and/or other
purposes.
Recording by Press and Public
Recording (including by the use of social media) by the Press and Public is permitted
from the public seating area provided it does not, in the opinion of the chairman, disrupt
the meeting.

Agenda Annex
NOTICES FOR COUNCILLORS
1. Fire/Bomb Alerts
In the event of the fire alarm sounding, leave the building immediately, following the fire
exit signs. Do not stop to collect personal belongings, do not use the lifts, do not reenter the building until told to do so.
2. Attendance Record
Please sign the Attendance Record Book, which will be located at the top of the main
staircase.
3. Mobile Phones
Please switch off all mobile phones before entering the Council Chamber.
4. Tea/Coffee
Refreshments will be available from 9.30 am.
5. Questions
Questions must be addressed to the Chairman, or to the Leader of the Council or to a
Portfolio Holder or to the Chairman of a Committee. Notice in writing of any question
must be delivered to the office of the Chief Executive by no later than 1:00 pm on the
third working day preceding the Council Meeting i.e. by not later than 1:00 pm on
Monday, 22 July 2019. All questions and answers will be circulated around the
Chamber before the commencement of the meeting. The Chairman will permit the
questioner to ask one supplementary question on each question/answer. Only the first
15 questions received by the Director of Strategy, Governance and Change before the
deadline will be dealt with at the Council meeting. Further information on Questions can
be found in Paragraph 8 of Section 12 of the Constitution.
NB. Questions for the County Council meeting on 10 October 2019 must reach the
Chief Executive by not later than 1:00 pm on Monday, 7 October 2019.
6. Notices of Motion
A Notice of Motion must reach the Chief Executive nine clear days before the relevant
Meeting of the Council, i.e. by not later than midnight on Monday, 15 July 2019.
Further information on Notices of Motion can be found in Paragraph 11 of Section 12 of
the Constitution.
NB. Notices of Motion for the County Council meeting on 10 October 2019 must
reach the Chief Executive by not later than midnight on Monday, 30 September
2019.
7. Guidance on the use of the microphones
 When speaking, the microphone should be pointing directly at your mouth;

Page 1

 The optimum distance from which to speak into the microphone is approximately
15 - 40 cms/6 - 16 inches;
 You should speak directly into the microphone (if you turn away the system will
not pick up the sound of your voice. Remember, the microphone is there not only
to amplify your voice but also to relay sound through the hearing loop system for
people with hearing impairment);
 Speak at a consistent volume level;
 Do not hold documents between your mouth and the microphone.

Page 2

GUIDANCE ON DECLARING DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS AT
MEETINGS - WHAT SHOULD YOU SAY
DEFINITION OF WHAT IS A DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST
A ‘Disclosable Pecuniary Interest’ is an interest of yourself or your partner, ie your spouse or
civil partner, a person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or a person with whom you
are living as if you are civil partners, (but only where you are aware that your partner has the
interest) within the following descriptions:
SUBJECT

DESCRIPTION

Employment,
office, Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on
trade, profession or for profit or gain.
vocation
Sponsorship
Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than
from Staffordshire County Council) made or provided within the
relevant period in respect of any expenses incurred by you or your
partner in connection with you carrying out duties as a member or
towards your election expenses.
This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union
within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations
(Consolidation) Act 1992.
Contracts

Any contract which is made between you or your partner (or a
body in which you or your partner has a beneficial interest) and
Staffordshire County Council(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works
are to be executed;
and
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land

Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of
Staffordshire County Council

Licences

Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the
area of Staffordshire County Council for a month or longer

Corporate Tenancies

Any tenancy where (to your knowledge)
(a) the landlord is Staffordshire County Council
and
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a
beneficial interest

Securities

Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or
land in the area of Staffordshire County Council; and
(b) either(i)

(ii)

the total nominal value of the securities exceeds
£25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share
capital of that body; or
if the share capital of that body is of more than one
class, the total nominal value of the shares of any one
class in which you or your partner has a beneficial
interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued
share capital of that class

Page 3

WHAT SHOULD YOU SAY?
If you also have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest you must notify the Chairman of that interest
and withdraw from the room when the matter is being discussed.

An example of what you should say

"I have a disclosable pecuniary interest in item number……… on the
agenda. The interest is ……… I shall leave the room when that matter
is being discussed"
DECLARING INTERESTS AT FULL COUNCIL
The Code of Conduct only requires that disclosable pecuniary interests are declared
where the matter to which the interest relates is being considered. Some items will be
mentioned in the papers for Full Council but are not actually being considered by Full
Council. In particular, some items are mentioned in the Leader’s Statement as having
been dealt with in Cabinet but are not actually mentioned or discussed at full Council. In
such circumstances the Monitoring Officer’s advice to members is that there is no need
to declare an interest unless the particular matter is mentioned or discussed. As a
general rule, members only need to declare an interest at full Council in the following
circumstances:



Where a matter is before the Council for a decision and/or
Where the matter in which the member has an interest is specifically mentioned or
discussed at the Council meeting.

Page 4

Agenda Item 3
Minutes of the County Council Meeting held on 23 May 2019
Present:
Attendance
Charlotte Atkins
Philip Atkins, OBE
Ann Beech
Gill Burnett
Tina Clements
Maureen Compton
John Cooper
Derek Davis, OBE
Mark Deaville
Alan Dudson
Janet Eagland
Ann Edgeller
Helen Fisher
Keith Flunder
John Francis
Colin Greatorex
Michael Greatorex
Gill Heath

Phil Hewitt
Jill Hood
Syed Hussain
Keith James
Julia Jessel
Trevor Johnson
Bryan Jones
Jason Jones
Alastair Little
Johnny McMahon
Paul Northcott
Kath Perry
Jeremy Pert
Jonathan Price
Natasha Pullen
Kyle Robinson
David Smith

Paul Snape
Bob Spencer
Mark Sutton
Stephen Sweeney
Simon Tagg
Martyn Tittley
Carolyn Trowbridge
Ross Ward
Alan White
Philip White
Conor Wileman
Bernard Williams
David Williams
Victoria Wilson
Mark Winnington
Susan Woodward
Mike Worthington

Apologies for absence: Ben Adams, David Brookes, Ron Clarke, Mike Davies,
Ian Parry, Bernard Peters and Mike Sutherland
PART ONE
1.

Election of the Chairman of the Council for the ensuing year

Mrs Wilson moved, and Mr David Williams seconded, and it was:
RESOLVED – That Mrs Kath Perry be elected Chairman of the County Council for the
ensuing year.
2.

Declarations of Interest under Standing Order 16

The following Members declared an interest in accordance with Standing Order 16.5:Member

Minute
Nos.

Interest

Reason

Susan Woodward

6

Personal

Trustee of the charity
Chasewater Friends

Alastair Little

7

Disclosable
pecuniary
interest
-1-

Page 5

Due to become a father in
December 2019

3.

Confirmation of the minutes of the Council meeting held on 21 March 2019

RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting of the County Council held on 21 March
2019 be confirmed and signed by the Chairman.
4.

Election of the Vice-Chairman of the Council for the ensuing year

Mrs Jessel moved, and Mr Spencer seconded, and it was:RESOLVED – That Mr Paul Snape be appointed Vice-Chairman of the County Council
for the ensuing year.
5.

Chairman's Correspondence
Chairman’s Civic Service
The Chairman reminded Members that this years’ Civic Church Service was to take
place at St. Mary’s Church, Stafford on Sunday, 16 June commencing at 12:00 noon.
All Members were welcome to attend the Service.
St. Mary’s, Lichfield
The Chairman informed the Council that The Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors
(RICS) had selected the St Mary’s project in the heart of Lichfield as the best building
conservation in the West Midlands for 2019.
The £1.4m project saw the Grade II* listed former church building converted into a
library and tourist information centre on the ground floor, with a versatile gallery,
heritage and performance space on the first floor.

6.

Statement of the Leader of the Council

The Leader of the Council presented a Statement outlining his recent work since the
previous meeting of the Council. In introducing his Statement, the Leader informed the
Council that Infrastructure+ had been short-listed as a finalist in the Highways
Management category of the Municipal Journal Awards.
Countryside Estate Review
(Paragraph 1 of the Statement)
Mr Robinson referred to the revenue which would be raised through the introduction of
car parking charges at the Country Parks and enquired as to how the monies raised
would be ringfenced for reinvestment in those Country Parks.
Mrs Woodward referred to the previous reviews of the Council’s Countryside Estate,
four over the past six years, and the detrimental impact this uncertainty was having on
staff. She also referred to the need for further investment in Chasewater and other
Country Parks. In response, Mr Winnington indicated that although the review of the
service was taking time to complete, it was important that it was done properly. He also
-2-

Page 6

confirmed that there had been investment in the Country Parks and that the monies
raised through the levying of car parking fees would be reinvested in the parks. Mrs
Heath added that there had only been one complaint in relation to the introduction of the
car parking charges at Chasewater.
Mr Dudson enquired about the charges levied by the Council for the use of land in the
Country Parks by Fairgrounds etc. In response, Mr Atkins confirmed that the County
Council did levy an appropriate charge for such usage.
Mr Deaville referred to the importance of the Country Parks in providing green spaces.
He also referred to the proposed family fun day to be held at Chasewater on 10 August
which was being organised by the Chasewater Friends.
Staffordshire County Council People Strategy
(Paragraph 2 of the Statement)
Mr Philip White welcomed the Council’s People Strategy and its commitment to
investing in the workforce.
Public Health Commissioned Services
(Paragraph 3 of the Statement)
Mrs Atkins referred to the Healthy Lifestyle Service and her visit to the team in Leek.
She indicated her support for the extension of the scheme and expressed the hope that
the Council would find ways of promoting this valuable service. Mrs Woodward
indicated that she concurred with the comments made by Mrs Atkins. In response to
Mrs Atkins and Mrs Woodward, Mr Alan White indicated that there were concerns that
not enough people were accessing the service and he encouraged members to promote
the service in their area.
In response to a question from Mr Hussain about reductions in the Public Health Ring
Fenced Grant, Mr Atkins indicated that he would ask the Deputy Leader and Cabinet
Member for Health, Care and Wellbeing to respond outside of the meeting.
Development of a Regional Permanency Arrangement
(Paragraph 4 of the Statement)
Mr Sutton and Mr Northcott welcomed the proposals to create a regional arrangement
across Staffordshire County Council, Stoke-on-Trent City Council, Shropshire Council
and Telford & Wrekin Council with a focus on finding local, caring, stable and loving
homes where Looked After Children achieve permanence.
Highways and Transport Capital Programme 2019/20
(Paragraph 5 of the Statement)
Mr Tagg referred to the HGV Routing Review and the Road Signage Review within
Newcastle and expressed the hope that the reviews would be completed as soon as
possible.

-3-

Page 7

Mr Dudson and Mr Hussain welcomed the allocation of £20,000 to each county
councillor to prioritise local highways improvements in their area which will benefit local
communities. Mr Dudson also referred to traffic in the Pear Tree Estate area in
Rugeley. In response, Mrs Fisher indicated that she would investigate the issues to
which Mr Dudson had referred and would respond to him in due course. In response to
a comment from Mr Hussain as to Stapenhill Parish Council deciding not to top-up the
£20,000 allocation by the County Council, Mr Francis expressed the view that all parish
councils needed to “step up to the plate” as they had a role to play in supporting local
improvement schemes. Mrs Woodward also indicated that when the finances of top-tier
authorities were under pressure it was important that Parish Councils helped to support
their local communities.
Mrs Jessel referred to two proposed projects within her division and requested that
traffic management plans be published in relation to these works as soon as possible.
In response, Mrs Fisher indicated that she would raise this matter with the relevant
officers.
Mr Flunder, Mr Price, Mr Philip White and Mr Hewitt spoke about proposed schemes in
their divisions which were included in the Capital Programme. Mr Bryan Jones also
referred to the successes in tackling the backlog of pothole repairs across the County
and indicated that his “postbag” had reduced over the last six months. Mrs Woodward
added that residents were still waiting a long time for the lower category of repairs to be
completed.
Mr Deaville also spoke about local safety schemes and how they were just as important
as the highway maintenance schemes.
Celebrating Staffordshire
(Paragraph 7 of the Statement)
Mr Colin Greatorex, Mrs Trowbridge and Mr Winnington spoke about the success of
Staffordshire Day and the contribution it had made to the local economy. Mrs
Trowbridge also suggested that, as Friday 8th May 2020 would be the 75th anniversary
of VE Day, Staffordshire Day be moved to coincide with the VE Day celebrations and for
events to be organised to show support for the Armed Forces.
Ironman 70.3 Staffordshire
(Paragraph 8 of the Statement)
Mrs Trowbridge, Mr Price and Mr Bryan Jones referred to the success of the Ironman
70.3 Staffordshire event and how this was an important showcase for the County. Mrs
Trowbridge also enquired as to how the County Council could capitalise on the event by
making it bigger. Members also extended their best wishes to Alan White who was
participating in the event again this year.
Staffordshire Highways
(Paragraph 10 of the Statement)
In response to a question from Mrs Atkins concerning the need for repairs to the paving
near the Nicolson War Memorial in Leek, Mrs Fisher stated that she would ensure that
-4-

Page 8

the works to repair the paving were completed. Mr Atkins also referred to the problems
caused by the utility companies who fail to properly reinstate the highway when they
undertake work on their apparatus.
Staying with Roads
(Paragraph 11 of the Statement)
Mr Robinson referred to traffic congestion problems along the A34 through Butt Lane
and enquired as to how the Council could support local Members in raising such issues
with Highways England. In response, Mr Deaville indicated that the County Council
worked closely with Highways England and that Mr Robinson had followed the correct
procedure in raising his concerns through the freight forum.
In response to a question from Mrs Trowbridge in relation to the commencement of work
on the Stafford Western Access Route, Mr Winnington confirmed that the works were on
track for the commencement of the scheme in June.
Mr Bernard Williams referred to the public consultation on the proposed M6 M54 Link
Road scheme and the scheme’s potential impact on local communities. He also
requested that 15/20 mph speed limits be imposed around all schools in Staffordshire.
In response, Mr Winnington indicated that it was important for the right mitigation
measures to be put in place for local communities impacted by the scheme.
Mrs Jessel referred to the design of roads on modern housing estates which, due to
their narrowness and the volume of vehicles parking on them, could give rise to road
safety issues. She enquired as to whether the County Council, as the Highway
Authority, could review its design guide for such roads. In response, Mr Winnington
indicated that local planning authorities also had a role to play in this respect. Mr
Michael Greatorex also indicated that design criteria was often set nationally and that
highways and planning authorities had to comply with those guidelines. He suggested
that the County Council needed to lobby Central Government to bring about the
changes necessary. Mrs Woodward indicated that she concurred with the views
expressed by Mr Greatorex and suggested that the matter be considered by the
Prosperous Staffordshire Select Committee.
Mr McMahon also referred to the possible road safety implications arising from the
growth in the number of electric cars which, due to their quietness, meant that
pedestrians may not be aware of them.
Local Elections
(Paragraph 12 of the Statement)
In response to a question from Mr Smith, Mr Atkins indicated that, following the recent
local elections, he had written to new leaders in the district and borough councils to
welcome them.
RESOLVED – That the Statement of the Leader of the Council be received.

-5-

Page 9

7.

Notices of Motion

(a) Mr Winnington moved, and Mr Tittley seconded, the following motion:
“That this Council:
i.

Continues to express concerns on the impact of HS2 on Staffordshire, especially
given the acceleration of phase 2a to Crewe.

ii.

Welcomes the efforts the council has made to mitigate the impact of Phase 1 on
the county and its communities and our commitment to build on the experience
gained to reduce the impact of Phase 2a.

iii.

Continues to ensure Staffordshire’s voice is heard in terms of mitigation on the
environment and meaningful compensation for affected residents.

iv.

Engages with Government, HS2 Ltd, district and borough councils and
neighbouring authorities to gain maximum economic benefits from HS2, building
on the partnership of Midlands Connect to deliver better connectivity for all
Staffordshire.

v.

Proposes the Leader should write to Government to request that all enabling
works on Phase 1 for HS2 in Staffordshire should be paused until the Notice to
Proceed to main works contractors has been approved. As required by the
Department of Transport, Notice to Proceed should not be given until
management capability, affordability of contracts and robustness of revised
business case have all been proven. We see no reason why Staffordshire should
suffer significant disruption and long-term environmental destruction until detailed
design and cost has been approved. We also ask that HS2 Ltd significantly
improves the effectiveness of its community engagement with those impacted by
the line on Phases 1, 2a and 2b.”

Mrs Woodward indicated that she and the other Members of the Labour Group were in
support of the motion and, following a vote, it was:
RESOLVED – That this Council:
i. Continues to express concerns on the impact of HS2 on Staffordshire, especially
given the acceleration of phase 2a to Crewe.
ii. Welcomes the efforts the council has made to mitigate the impact of Phase 1 on
the county and its communities and our commitment to build on the experience
gained to reduce the impact of Phase 2a.
iii. Continues to ensure Staffordshire’s voice is heard in terms of mitigation on the
environment and meaningful compensation for affected residents.
iv. Engages with Government, HS2 Ltd, district and borough councils and
neighbouring authorities to gain maximum economic benefits from HS2, building
-6-

Page 10

on the partnership of Midlands Connect to deliver better connectivity for all
Staffordshire.
v. Proposes the Leader should write to Government to request that all enabling
works on Phase 1 for HS2 in Staffordshire should be paused until the Notice to
Proceed to main works contractors has been approved. As required by the
Department of Transport, Notice to Proceed should not be given until
management capability, affordability of contracts and robustness of revised
business case have all been proven. We see no reason why Staffordshire should
suffer significant disruption and long-term environmental destruction until detailed
design and cost has been approved. We also ask that HS2 Ltd significantly
improves the effectiveness of its community engagement with those impacted by
the line on Phases 1, 2a and 2b
(b) Mr Atkins moved, and Mrs Woodward seconded, the following motion:
“That this Council notes that Staffordshire County Council does not currently have a
formalised policy relating to Parental Leave for elected Members as there is at present
no legal right to Parental Leave for those elected to public office.
It is proposed that this Council should adopt a Parental Leave Policy for elected
Members on a new addition to their family. This council resolves to set up a working
group to consider the attached policy proposals on Parental Leave.”
Note by Clerk: Mr Little declared a personal pecuniary interest, left the Chamber, and
took no part in the consideration of the motion or the decision thereon.
Following a short debate and a vote, it was:
RESOLVED – (a) That this Council notes that Staffordshire County Council does not
currently have a formalised policy relating to Parental Leave for elected Members as
there is at present no legal right to Parental Leave for those elected to public office.
(b) It is proposed that this Council should adopt a Parental Leave Policy for elected
Members on a new addition to their family. This council resolves to set up a working
group to consider the attached policy proposals on Parental Leave.
8.

Annual Report on the Staffordshire Local Community Fund 2018

In introducing the report, Mr Atkins congratulated Members in using the Fund also to
lever monies from others by way of match funding. Mrs Woodward also referred to the
need for Parish Council’s to step into the gap left by the cessation of the Fund.
RESOLVED – That the annual report on the Staffordshire Local Community Fund 2018
be received.
9.

Committee Membership

Mr Atkins moved, and Mr Alan White seconded, and it was:

-7-

Page 11

RESOLVED – That the Members indicated below serve on the Committees indicated for
the period up to the annual Council meeting in 2020:-

Charlotte Atkins
David Brookes
Mike Davies
John Francis
Colin Greatorex
Michael Greatorex
Johnny McMahon

Corporate Review Committee
Ian Parry
Bernard Peters
Martyn Tittley
Stephen Sweeney
David Williams
Susan Woodward

Prosperous Staffordshire Select Committee
Tina Clements
Ian Parry
Keith Flunder
Kyle Robinson
Syed Hussain
David Smith
Julia Jessel
Simon Tagg
Bryan Jones
Bernard Williams
Safe and Strong Communities Select Committee
Ann Beech
Paul Snape
Ron Clarke
Bob Spencer
John Francis
Carolyn Trowbridge
Trevor Johnson
Conor Wileman
Jason Jones
Mike Worthington
Healthy Staffordshire Select Committee
Charlotte Atkins
Jeremy Oates
Janet Eagland
Kath Perry
Ann Edgeller
Jeremy Pert
Phil Hewitt
Bernard Peters
Dave Jones
Ross Ward
Johnny McMahon
Victoria Wilson
Paul Northcott

Ben Adams
David Brookes
Ron Clarke
John Cooper
Alan Dudson
Keith James

Planning Committee
Ian Lawson
Alastair Little
Kyle Robinson
David Smith
Paul Snape
Bob Spencer
-8-

Page 12

Julia Jessel
Trevor Johnson

Mike Worthington

Pensions Committee
Bob Spencer
Mike Sutherland
Stephen Sweeney
Martyn Tittley

Ben Adams
Philip Atkins
Mike Davies
Derek Davis
Colin Greatorex

Derek Davis
Ann Edgeller
Colin Greatorex
Michael Greatorex
Jill Hood
Alastair Little
Paul Northcott
Jonathan Price

Audit and Standards Committee
Martyn Tittley
Carolyn Trowbridge
Ross Ward
Bernard Williams
David Williams
Susan Woodward
Victoria Wilson

Corporate Parenting Panel
Jill Hood
Bryan Jones

Gill Burnett
Ron Clarke
Maureen Compton
Janet Eagland
John Francis
Michael Greatorex
Gill Heath
Phil Hewitt

Michael Greatorex
Syed Hussain
Kath Perry

Bernard Peters
Natasha Pullen
Paul Snape
Mark Sutton
Carolyn Trowbridge

Charities and Trusts Committee
David Smith
Paul Snape

Cabinet Members (9)
Leader of the Council – Philip Atkins
Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Health, Care and Wellbeing - Alan White
Cabinet Member for Finance – Mike Sutherland
Cabinet Member for Children and Young People - Mark Sutton

-9-

Page 13

Cabinet Member for Economic Growth - Mark Winnington
Cabinet Member for Commercial – Mark Deaville
Cabinet Member for Communities – Gill Heath
Cabinet Member for Learning and Employability – Philip White
Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport – Helen Fisher
Support Members with specific portfolios (4)
Adult Safeguarding – Gill Burnett
Digital Community – Bryan Jones
Environmental Future – Conor Wileman
Inclusion SEND – Jonathan Price
Cabinet Support Members to chair and lead the All Party Working Groups (2)
Isolation – Keith Flunder
Aspiration – Simon Tagg
Community Cabinet Support Members (8) to support the Cabinet Member for
Communities
Cannock Chase – Phil Hewitt
East Staffordshire – Bernard Peters
Lichfield – Janet Eagland
Newcastle-under-Lyme – Trevor Johnson
South Staffordshire – Victoria Wilson
Stafford – Jeremy Pert
Staffordshire Moorlands – Ross Ward
Tamworth – Jeremy Oates
10.

Appointment of Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of Committees and Panels

Mr Atkins moved, and Mr Alan White seconded, the nominations for the appointment of
Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of Committee.

- 10 -

Page 14

Mrs Woodward spoke of the need for there to be opposition vice-chairmen on the
Council’s select committees in order to show that those committees were not party
political. She also referred to this proposal being included in the recommendations
contained in the report of the Independent Remuneration Panel (IRP), the consideration
of which had been deferred by the Council. In response, Mr Atkins indicated that there
would be a meeting of the IRP as soon as was practicable.
RESOLVED – That the under-mentioned be appointed as Chairman and Vice-Chairman
of the Committees stated for the period up to the annual Council meeting in 2020:Committee

Chairman

Corporate Review Committee
Chairman
Vice-Chairman

Michael Greatorex
David Williams

Healthy Staffordshire Select Committee
Chairman
Vice-Chairman

Johnny McMahon
Paul Northcott

Prosperous Staffordshire Select Committee
Chairman
Vice-Chairman

Ian Parry
Tina Clements

Safe and Strong Communities Select Committee
Chairman
Vice-Chairman

John Francis
Bob Spencer

Planning Committee
Chairman
Vice-Chairman

Julia Jessel
David Smith

Pensions Committee
Chairman
Vice-Chairman

Colin Greatorex
Mike Davies

- 11 -

Page 15

Audit and Standards Committee
Chairman
Vice-Chairman

Martyn Tittley
Carolyn Trowbridge

Corporate Parenting Panel
Chairman
Vice-Chairman

Mark Sutton
Bryan Jones

Charities and Trusts Committee
Chairman
Vice-Chairman
11.

Kath Perry
David Smith

Appointment of members to Outside Bodies 2018/19

Mr Atkins moved, and Mr Alan White seconded, and it was:
RESOLVED - That the nominations of the Leader of the Council, in consultation with the
Political Group Leaders, on the appointment of members to Outside Bodies for 2019/20
be approved and that the Leader be authorised to make any changes to those
appointments as may become necessary.
The Chairman adjourned the meeting until 1:45 pm
Present at 1:45 pm:
Charlotte Atkins
Philip Atkins OBE
Gill Burnett
Tina Clements
John Cooper
Janet Eagland
Ann Edgeller
Helen Fisher
Keith Flunder
Colin Greatorex
Michael Greatorex
Phil Hewitt
Gill Heath

Jill Hood
Syed Hussain
Keith James
Julia Jessel
Trevor Johnson
Bryan Jones
Jason Jones
Johnny McMahon
Paul Northcott
Kath Perry (Chairman)
Jeremy Pert
Kyle Robinson
David Smith

- 12 -

Page 16

Paul Snape
Robert Spencer
Mark Sutton
Stephen Sweeney
Martyn Tittley
Carolyn Trowbridge
Alan White
Philip White
Bernard Williams
David Williams
Victoria Wilson
Mark Winnington
Susan Woodward

12.

Report of the Chairman of the Staffordshire Police, Fire and Crime Panel

Mrs Atkins enquired as to how the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner proposed to
communicate to the public the number of additional uniformed officers and where they
were to be deployed. In response, Mr Sweeney indicated that he understood that there
was to be an extra 69 uniformed officers, but that was still to be confirmed, and that he
was sure that the Commissioner would publicise the full details in due course.
In response to a question from Mr Spencer in relation to the review of the Safer
Neighbourhood Panels, Mr Sweeney indicated that some of the Panels were effective
whereas others were not, and the Commissioner had decided to take on the
responsibility for their coordination going forward.
RESOLVED – That the report be received.
13.

Questions

Mr Hussain asked the following question of the Cabinet Member for Highways and
Transport whose reply is set out below the question:Question
Residents are suffering from shortage of car parking space and traffic congestion.
Does the county have any plan to resolve this issue?
Reply
The Local Transport Plan for Staffordshire (2011 – 2026) sets out high level highway
& transport objectives, policies and strategy to support our vision for a ‘Connected
Staffordshire’. This includes how we will aim to reduce reliance on the private car,
improve air quality and promote more sustainable forms of sustainable transport and
active travel.
Beneath the Local Transport Plan are 8 local District Transport Strategies. These
have been developed in consultation with Borough and District Councils to help make
Local Development Plans acceptable in Transport terms. They include details of key
highway and transport improvement needs, which is key to being able to secure
developer funding contributions through s.106 or s.278 agreements.
The East Staffordshire District Transport Strategy was publicly consulted on during
2013 and signed off by Cabinet in April 2014. It is available on the county council’s
internet pages and the local Member’s portal.
With regards to parking this is a key part of the Local Transport Plan. It is a very
important part of all our lives - affecting where we go and how we choose to get there.
A revised draft parking strategy has recently been reviewed and agreed with the
Prosperous Staffordshire Select Committee and will be going out to public
consultation next month.
- 13 -

Page 17

Supplementary Question
May I invite the Cabinet Member to visit my division to see the problem for herself?
Reply
Yes, I would be happy to come and have a look at the issues you have raised.
Mr Robinson asked the following question of the Cabinet Member for Highways and
Transport whose reply is set out below the question:Question
Can the Cabinet Member for Highways please give a date for when potholes on
Chapel Street, Butt Lane will be repaired?
Reply
As all Members will be aware we do not have unlimited resources and so in line with
national Codes of Practice repairs to potholes and all other highway defects are
prioritised to minimise the risk of personal injury or property damage.
Over the last 4 months the performance levels achieved are:





100% of Emergency defects have been completed within 2 hours;
97.6% of high-risk (Category 1) defects repaired within 24-hours;
91.8% of high-to-medium risk (Category 2) defects repaired within 7days; and
Approximately ¼ of all other identified or reported highway defects completed
within 60 days.

The potholes on Chapel Street Butt are all of a very minor nature and as such have
not yet been prioritised for repair. However, they have been given a Category 3
status so that if the opportunity arises repairs can be considered alongside any other
more urgent works.
However, if the local Member is minded, then he also has the option of locally
prioritising these repairs through his £20k maintenance allocation.
Supplementary Question
The problem with this particular road is that there are a lot of category three potholes,
a number of which have been there for some considerable time.
Reply
I will take another look at this particular area for you.
Mr Northcott asked the following question of the Cabinet Member for Highways and
Transport whose reply is set out below the question:- 14 -

Page 18

Question
We have heard about the extra 20k allocated for each member of the Council. Could
the Cabinet Member for Highways outline the steps presently being taken to facilitate
and improve capacity to meet the members’ DHP requests for timely work to be
undertaken in their respective divisions?
Reply
As every single member will know, last year we had spending controls in place to
support the development of our MTFS. I would like to thank everyone for their
patience and understanding where this affected services you come in to regular
contact with, such as the Community Highways Teams, where in some parts of the
County these vacancies have meant response rates from the remaining staff have
been slow.
I am pleased to report that the Community Highways team have just completed a
recruitment process to fill longstanding vacancies in the team. New staff will be in
post within the next couple of months. This will help the team to facilitate the delivery
of the £20k Life Enhancing Maintenance Funding and DHP requests from members.
In addition, Amey have allocated an extra engineer to oversee the implementation of
the more significant works identified by members for the £20k Life Enhancing
Maintenance Funding.
The highways team has a strong appreciation of the importance of these initiatives
and will continue to work hard to successfully deliver both programmes across the
county.
Supplementary Question
Can I ask the Cabinet Member if she agrees with me that Members will require a
timely update as soon as possible in order to avoid a mad rush and clamour to spend
the money at the end of the financial year?
Reply
I meet regularly with the local highway teams and I will make sure that Members
receive regular updates.
14.

Petitions

There were no petitions on this occasion.

Chairman

- 15 -

Page 19

Agenda Item 5
Statement of the Leader of the Council
1. New Supported Living Dynamic Purchasing System
The Council funds around 436 Supported Living placements for adults with a
Learning Disability, Autistic Spectrum Condition, Mental Ill Health, Physical Disability,
Sensory Impairment and Acquired Brain Injury to meet their assessed eligible care
and support needs.
The current Learning Disability and/or Autistic Spectrum Condition Community
Support Framework is due to cease on 30 September 2019 and the Cabinet have
approved the use of a dynamic purchasing system (DPS) to procure and contract for
Supported Living placements for adults from 1 October 2019. Over the 4 year period
of the DPS the Council expects to make around 120 new placements (plus around
50 existing placements that require bringing under contractual arrangements).
(Cabinet – 15 May 2019)

2. Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards – Amendments to the Mental Capacity Act
2005
The Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DOLS) provide protection for the most
vulnerable people living in residential homes, nursing homes or hospital
environments. In May 2016 the Council decided to triage DoLS applications in order
to ensure that the highest priority people could be given a full assessment. This is
similar to the approach taken by most other Local Authorities. The Council has a
current backlog of full DoLS assessments waiting.
In May 2019 the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) found
fault in relation to this approach and the Council has therefore reviewed its approach
to DoLS applications and will implement the recommendations of the LGSCO.
Legislation to replace DoLS has been agreed by the houses of parliament and is
currently awaiting Royal Assent. The Cabinet have agreed that an action plan to
implement this legislation be produced in compliance with the recommendations of
the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman. In the interim, the approach to
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards is to be amended so as to complete full
assessments on medium and low priority cases if resources allow, and to use
additional one-off funding to support new full assessments and reduce the back-log
of full assessments.
(Cabinet – 15 May 2019)

3. The Staffordshire County Council Apprenticeship Strategy
The introduction of the Apprenticeship Levy puts employers at the centre of
identifying the skills, knowledge and behaviours that are required for the workforce of
the future and to ensure that apprentices receive high quality training to meet their
chosen professional standards. Public sector targets have also been introduced to

Page 21

achieve a greater proportion of growth in apprenticeships. There is now a publicsector duty to ensure that 2.3% of the workforce are apprenticeships by 2020.
Apprenticeship growth is an important part of the Council’s aspirations for the
Staffordshire economy with the aim to raise skills levels and aspirations.
The Cabinet have approved an Apprenticeship Strategy 2019 – 2022 for
Staffordshire County Council which aims to embed Apprenticeships within the county
council’s workforce, achieve maximum levy spend and work towards meeting the
public sector target.
(Cabinet – 15 May 2019)

4. The Henry Prince CE (C) First School, Mayfield: Determination of Statutory
Proposal
Over recent years, the number of pupils attending The Henry Prince CE (C) First
School has declined and, despite actions by the governing body to boost numbers,
the school is less than half full. With 75 places available, there are only 20 full-time
pupils on roll and, with more due to move this term, the total number expected in
September 2019 is only around 10 to 15 pupils. Due to this, and following
consultation with stakeholders, the Cabinet have approved a statutory proposal to
close The Henry Prince CE (C) First School, Mayfield on 31 August 2019. Dove CE
(VC) First will become the catchment area school as it has enough places to absorb
the pattern of demand for places from parents in The Henry Prince catchment area.
The Cabinet have also approved a request from the headteacher of The Henry
Prince School to provide a contribution towards the cost of new uniforms for the
parents of 30 full-time pupils on roll when consultation on closure started on 23
January 2018: based upon a £25 contribution per child. The county council will also
provide free shared transport to all eligible children who attend Dove First, which is
approximately 5½ miles by road from The Henry Prince.
(Cabinet – 15 May 2019)

5. Staffordshire History Centre Stage 1 NLHF Application
During 2018/19 Staffordshire County Council’s Archives and Heritage Service and
the William Salt Library Trust made a Round Two application for £3.9m to the
Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF) supported by £1.8m of fundraising, in kind contributions
and matched funding from the partnership for the Staffordshire History Centre
project. On 26 September 2018 HLF informed the Council that the project had been
unsuccessful at Round Two.
A new national Strategic Funding Framework 2019-2024 was launched by the
Lottery on 30th January. There has been a rebranding and the fund has been
renamed the National Lottery Heritage Fund (NLHF). The application process is in
three stages with an initial expression of interest assessed by the regional team who
decide whether to invite a stage 1 one application to be submitted. An expression of

Page 22

interest in respect of the Staffordshire History Centre was submitted at the beginning
of March and has been successful.
The Cabinet have therefore agreed that a stage 1 application be submitted to the
National Lottery Heritage Fund and that matched funding be earmarked for the stage
2 application for the Staffordshire History Centre.
(Cabinet – 15 May 2019)

6. Adult Learning Disability Community Offer 2022 Programme
In January 2019, the Council undertook extensive consultation with people with a
learning disability and autism, asking them their opinions about the five options for
building based day services as part of our Adult Learning Disability Community Offer.
The Cabinet have considered the outcome of the consultation and, having taken into
account the feedback and consideration that the services in their current format are
not sustainable in the medium / long term, their proposal is to pursue further a
combination of Options 2 (increase capacity) and 3 (redesign and/or explore
alternative delivery model). The services could either be directly provided by the
Council, or by a Local Authority Trading Company, along with other learning
disability services. The merits of these two options are be considered through a
further evidence based options appraisal, with a recommendation to the Cabinet
meeting in September 2019.
(Cabinet – 19 June 2019)

7. Contract for the Supply of Electricity and Associated Services
The Cabinet have approved proposals to procure the electricity it uses through the
Yorkshire Purchasing Organisation (YPO) framework for the period of 1st April 2020
until 31st March 2023. The Council’s use of the YPO flexible framework will ensure it
procures at the best kWh rates possible.
(Cabinet – 19 June 2019)

8. Development of Council Owned Older People’s Nursing Homes
The Council is facing a rising cost of new care home placements, which is driving up
the average cost of placements. The Council’s expenditure on older people’s care
homes is increasing by 5% annually for residential care and 12% annually for
nursing care. With this in mind, the Cabinet have approved proposals to increase
nursing home capacity through the provision of Council owned nursing homes for
older people to be operated either by a Local Authority Trading Company or an
external care provider.
Increasing nursing home capacity will mean we can offer good quality, cost-effective
placements to meet the assessed eligible social care needs of people in
Staffordshire. A capital investment of around £1m and up to a maximum of £1.2m to
refurbish the former Hillfield site, as well as a proposal to build two new nursing
homes in the areas of highest demand, will see the county council developing

Page 23

highcare environments which maximises the use of advances in technology to
support the needs of residents.
(Cabinet – 19 June 2019)

9. Domestic Abuse Tri-Partite Agreement
The Cabinet have approved the signing by the County Council of two Domestic
Abuse Tri-Partite Funding Agreements, one in respect of the provision of Domestic
Abuse Services for Victims and one in respect of the provision of Domestic Abuse
Services for Perpetrators, across Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent for a period of up
to five years to 30 September 2023. The County Council, the City Council and the
Staffordshire Commissioner’s Office have agreed to work together to ensure the
effective and efficient delivery of Domestic Abuse Services for Victims and
Perpetrators and the two Tri-Partite Agreements set out the terms under which the
Parties have agreed to fund the cost of and collaborate in respect of this.
(Cabinet – 19 June 2019)

10. Final Outturn Report 2018/19
The Cabinet have noted the final financial outturn position of the county council,
which is an underspend of £2.222m on portfolio budgets with the Contingency
budget remaining unspent giving a total underspend of £3.562m.
They have also approved the carrying forward of £3.5m of the Health and Care
underspend in order to fund adult social care pressures in 2019/20.
The capital programme shows total expenditure of £128.084m. This reflects the
Council’s continued investment in school places, highways and economic
regeneration.
(Cabinet – 19 June 2019)

11. Enjoying the Summer Safely
With school pupils now enjoying the summer break, we want to make sure everyone
does so safely.
The death of 21-year-old Carl Storer, who died as he heroically went to the aid of a
young girl in Chasewater, is a tragic reminder of just how dangerous swimming in
open waters can be.
I would make a plea to every Staffordshire parent this to summer to make sure their
children know the dangers and stay away from reservoirs and quarries.
While they may look inviting, the no swimming signs are there for a good reason, as
even the strongest swimmer can soon get into difficulties in the very cold water.
12. Highways Investment

Page 24

The recent warm spell also means our crews have been
stepping up pothole repairs across the county – with an extra £5m invested for the
third year in a row.
As we all know, simply maintaining our huge network is a major challenge, but this
extra investment will go some way towards managing the condition of our roads.
On top of this, each member also has £20,000 this year to invest in local projects
and I know many of you have already identified improvements you would like to see
made in your local communities.
Obviously, crews need to make sure that these projects are scheduled in around
other priorities to make the best use of time and resources.
13. Air Quality
Promoting cleaner air is a huge priority, not only for Public Health England but also
for us as a county council here in Staffordshire.
We have been actively encouraging residents to take steps to reduce air pollution
and some of you may have seen the piece on Central News where children from
Heath Hayes Primary took matters into their own hands to encourage motorists to
stop running their car engines near schools.
Separately both Newcastle Borough Council and Stoke-on-Trent City Council have
received Government directives to tackle air pollution pockets, including around the
A53 and we are working closely with them to support them find achievable,
affordable and workable solutions which deliver goals without significantly impacting
on local economies and connectivity.
14. Staffordshire Warmer Homes Fund
The Staffordshire Warmer Homes Fund is being rolled out across the county to help
people who may be eligible to have central heating fitted in the homes for the first
time for free.
This will not only help people stay warm in the winter months, but will also make fuel
bills more affordable.
There has been a fantastic response to the initial launches in Tamworth and Lichfield
and if there are people who you think may be eligible then do encourage them to
apply.
Older people in particular can be a little cautious about anything that is offered for
“free”, but in this case there is absolutely nothing to lose by applying.
15. People Helping People Fund
The People Helping Fund is now up and running, with all of us being able to match
fund new projects which help children and families or health and wellbeing.

Page 25

This is very much part of our Doing Our Bit campaign which encourages everyone to
think about doing one extra thing to help themselves, their families, their neighbours
or their communities.
16. Anniversary of the Moon Landing
Some of us in the chamber will remember first hand the Apollo Moon Landing in
1969 and their safe return to earth 50 years ago yesterday. An achievement that
undoubtedly inspired a generation.
Closer to home the event has also inspired a space themed exhibition at Lichfield
Cathedral, which is well worth a visit.

17. Dignity in Care Awards
Finally, I wanted to mention the Staffordshire Dignity in Care Awards – which
recognise the huge contribution made by more than twenty inspirational carers from
across the county.
These are very much people who go the extra mile every day for the people they
care for. Fiona Pattyson-Johnson from Stafford was named as Dignity Champion.
Fiona, who cares for Timothy Tooley, a young man with Down’s Syndrome clearly
loves her work and says Tim’s “smile makes the day worthwhile”.
So, congratulations to Fiona and carers across the county, both paid and unpaid who
we certainly owe a huge debt of gratitude too.

Page 26

Agenda Item 7
Recommendations to the Council
____________

(a) Members’ Allowances Scheme - Independent Remuneration Panel Report
The County Council is required to establish and maintain an Independent
Remuneration Panel to provide advice and recommendations to the Council on its
Members’ Allowances Scheme. Any decision on the nature and level of allowances
are a matter for the full Council, but the Council must have regard to any
recommendations submitted by the Independent Remuneration Panel before
establishing or amending the Members’ Allowances Scheme. The Panel meets each
year to consider the recommendations to be made to the Council in respect of the
level and nature of the forthcoming year’s allowances.
The Independent Remuneration Panel’s report of March 2019, including
recommendations on the Members’ Allowances Scheme for 2019/20, is attached.
As part of their deliberations and in response to feedback from Members of the
Council, in addition to the Special Responsibility Allowance (SRA) for the Opposition
Leader, the Panel have proposed a change to the County Council’s Constitution to
include three new roles of Opposition Select Committee Vice-Chairmen created from
the single Shadow Cabinet Member Special Responsibility Allowance (SRA). The
Independent Remuneration Panel proposes that the Opposition Deputy Leader will
hold the Opposition Select Committee vice-chairmanship on the Corporate Review
Select Committee and the three Opposition Select Committee posts will hold the
Opposition Select Committee vice-chairmanships on the Healthy Staffordshire Select
Committee, Prosperous Staffordshire Select Committee and the Safe and Strong
Communities Select Committee.
In the report, the Panel have also proposed to the Council that the Chairman of the
County Council, in consultation with the relevant group leader, be given delegated
authority to increase the allowance paid to the Vice-Chairmen of a Committee to the
level of the corresponding Chairman’s allowance if they are required to take on the
responsibilities of the Chairman for a sustained period. The Special Responsibility
Allowance paid to the Chairman of the Committee will be suspended during this
period.
At the County Council meeting on 21 March 2019 it was resolved that “The Council
does not accept at this moment in time their recommendation for an increase in
overall allowances of 2% in line with the NJC pay award to staff.” It was also
resolved that “The Council also feels in a time of change, that the recommendations
of the Panel to make changes to the levels of remuneration be deferred for further
consideration later this year, as the recommendations do not reflect the future
ongoing developing roles of Members.”
Since the County Council meeting in March 2019, the changes to the Council’s
political structures introduced at the annual Council meeting in May 2018 have
started to become embedded in the Authority and it is therefore now the view of the
Leader of the Council that the IRP report of March 2019 should be revisited.

Page 27

The Council will also be aware that there were minor changes to the Council’s
political structures introduced at the last Council meeting in May this year which saw
a reduction in the number of APWG Chairmen from four to two and the increase in
the number of Cabinet Support Members from one to four.
Recommend – (a) That the Council’s views on the recommendations of the
Independent Remuneration Panel’s report of March 2019 are requested.
(b) That, if the Council are minded to support the recommendations of the Panel:
(i)
(ii)

the Council’s Constitution be amended to include the provision of a Shadow
Select Committee Vice-Chairman.
the Council’s Constitution be amended to give delegated authority to the
Chairman of the County Council, following consultation with the relevant
group leader, to increase the allowance paid to the Vice-Chairmen of a
Committee to the level of the corresponding Chair’s allowance if they are
required to take on the responsibilities of the Chair for a sustained period; and
that when this power is utilised, the Chairmen’s allowance be suspended
during this period.

(b) Independent Remuneration Panel – Appointment of New Members
The County Council is required to establish and maintain an Independent
Remuneration Panel of between three and five members to provide advice and
recommendations to the Council on its Members’ Allowances Scheme. The Panel
meets each year to consider the recommendations to be made to the Council in
respect of the level and nature of the forthcoming year’s allowances.
At the County Council meeting held on 21 March 2019, it was agreed “That the Audit
and Standards Committee be requested to carry out a further recruitment process for
the Independent Remuneration Panel as soon as possible” so as to increase the
Panel’s Membership from three to five. This process has recently been completed
and the Special Panel of the Audit and Standards Committee recommend to the
Council that Mr William Read and Mr Anthony Styles be appointed to the
Independent Remuneration Panel for a period of four years ending 31 March 2023.
Recommend –That the Council approve the recommendation of the Special Panel
of the Audit and Standards Committee to appoint Mr William Read and Mr Anthony
Styles to the Independent Remuneration Panel for a period of four years ending 31
March 2023.

Page 28

ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20
Independent Remuneration Panel
FOREWORD
This report of the Independent Remuneration Panel sets out our conclusions and
recommendations on members’ allowances for the period 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020 for
the consideration of Staffordshire County Council (the County Council).
The Panel was established under the Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England)
Regulations 2001 to provide advice and recommendations to the County Council on amounts
to be paid under its members’ allowances scheme. Members of the Panel are appointed by
the County Council and are independent members of the community. The County Council is
required to have regard to our recommendations in deciding what to pay councillors.
Additionally, the County Council must also publish our recommendations and conclusions,
together with the approved scheme.
PANEL MEMBERSHIP


Les Trigg (A retired local government finance professional. Currently a Town
Council Clerk and member of NHS Clinical Commissioning Group and Academy
Boards)



Tom Roach (A retired HR professional with experience in the education sector
and in the private sector – UK and Europe)



Christina Robotham (A retired Staffordshire Headteacher)

For 2019/20 the Panel has increased its membership with the addition of two new members 

Annie Barrett (A retired Staffordshire Deputy Headteacher)



Christopher Burden (A student teacher)

TERMS OF REFERENCE
The Panel is required to gather information, to hear and consider evidence and to make
recommendations to the County Council on:




the amount of basic allowance to be paid to members
those positions that should receive special responsibility allowances (SRAs), and
the level of those allowances
travel, subsistence and certain other allowances

The full terms of reference of the Panel are set out in Appendix A.
The Process we have followed
We met on six occasions from October 2018 until the conclusion of our review of members’
allowances in February 2019.
We considered a range of comparative information in respect of allowances paid in
comparable local authorities. Although the remuneration offered to elected members by

Page 29
1

other authorities varies considerably, there was nothing in our consideration of comparative
information that provided us with anything specific to investigate further in respect of
Staffordshire members’ allowances at this time.
In order to understand the views of the County Councillors themselves, we arranged for a
questionnaire to be sent to all Councillors and we received thirty-five responses. We
specifically invited group leaders to meet with us and the questionnaire also offered
Councillors the same opportunity. We met with 5 Councillors, including the Group Leaders, a
Select Committee Chairman and members with no SRA linked role.
Introduction
Our prime role has been to assess and recommend the allowances to be made available to
elected members, representing the diversity of communities that make up Staffordshire now
and into the future.
In formulating our recommendations, we have borne in mind:



that the successful delivery of the various roles of members depends on a sense of
corporate social responsibility and public service and that members are motivated to a
significant extent by a sense of public good.
the current economic climate and the continuing substantial financial constraints on
the services which the County Council provides.

Nevertheless, those who decide to stand for election should not be required to make
unreasonable sacrifices in their private lives. In this context, we continue to recognise that
there is a substantial gap between the level of financial remuneration provided nationally to
elected councillors and the commitment they are expected, or believe that they need to
make, both in terms of time and responsibility, to fulfil the increasingly demanding roles in
public life.
Proposals considered and recommendations
Following the County Council elections in May 2017, the Council implemented a number of
changes to the approved scheme of allowances. The Panel supported those changes
subject to review in the 2018/19 report once the new structure had time to settle in.
The Members’ Allowance Scheme includes allowances paid to the Chairman and ViceChairman of the County Council. We reviewed these allowances as part of last year’s review.
In preparation for our report last year, a number of common themes of issues were brought to
our attention. These included a confusion with the complexity of the scheme and the number
of different levels of allowance being paid, and a view that some of the differences in
allowances paid between roles did not properly reflect differences in time commitment and
responsibility/accountability. However, it was also identified that the new scheme had not yet
had sufficient time to fully bed-in, which may limit the potential for a full re-assessment of
SRAs.
Our report in respect of the period 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019 proposed a substantial
rebalancing of Special Responsibility Allowances to reflect those changes in arrangements in
recent years. The County Council at its meeting on 22 March 2018 resolved “That, as the
Council is minded that the new Executive arrangements are still relatively new and that it is at
this point in time premature to make changes to the levels of remuneration, the consideration

Page 30
2

of the other recommendations of the Panel be deferred for further consideration in their report
for 2019/20.”
We note that we are now two years on from the 2017 elections. As you would expect the
administration continue to evolve arrangements. There has been an increase in Cabinet
membership, a reduction in Cabinet Support members and a shift from 4 All Party Member
Groups to 2 All Party Working Groups.
We have used this and previous information to devise a new scale of SRA payments based
on 10 different levels, with allocation of roles to each level depending on factors such as the
level of personal public accountability linked to the role and the level of professional support
provided by officers. Whilst time commitment is also a factor and was considered it was not
given as great a weighting as accountability.
In addition, in line with normal practice, the level of allowances are proposed to be increased
by 2% in line with the employee pay award for 2018-19.
Our recommendations include increases in some SRAs for some roles and a reduction for
others. Overall, the recommendations are contained within an envelope of the current cost
plus 2%, as we felt that any change to the total Members’ Allowances payable was a matter
for the Council.
Our proposals are set out below:
Leader, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Members
We were not made aware of any issues regarding the appropriateness of allowances being
paid to members holding these responsibilities. Analysis of comparative information
suggested allowances for these posts differed considerably across county councils but that
the Staffordshire payments were reasonable when considered against them. It is, therefore,
recommended that these SRAs remain at the same relative levels:
Leader
Deputy Leader
Cabinet Member

Level 1
Level 2
Level 3

£37,218.76
£27,914.58
£18,609.38

(100%)
(75% of Leader)
(50% of Leader)

Cabinet Support Member
In our investigations for the 2018 Report, the allowance paid to Cabinet Support Members
was the most commonly remarked upon by other members, with the fact that it is higher than
Scrutiny Chairmen being particularly singled out for comment. Currently, there is only one
Cabinet Support Member. It is apparent from the information shared with us that the role
requires a member to read extensively, understand issues, attend and occasionally chair
meetings. This appears to reflect in many ways the relativity in responsibilities between the
Chairman and Vice-Chairman of Committees and should be similarly reflected in their
allowances with a recognition of the greater autonomy (the figure below representing 25% of
a Cabinet Members’ remuneration). Without, therefore, diminishing the importance of the role
to support a Cabinet Member (and the Cabinet Member’s appreciation of the same), the role
has a limited accountability that leads us to conclude that the member should receive an
allowance of: Cabinet Support Member

Level 7

Page 31
3

£4,652.35

(12.5% of Leader)

Select Committee Chairmen
Whilst preparing our 2018 Report, some County Councillors expressed the view that the level
of payment to all Scrutiny chairmen was too low relative to other SRAs. In addition, currently
the Health Scrutiny Chair is paid more than other scrutiny chairs which may no longer be an
appropriate differentiation considering the accountability, breadth, depth and call upon time
required of all chairmen.
We have not changed the view which we expressed in the 2018 Report. We understand
these roles to have a significant degree of public accountability and perform a key role in
ensuring value for money and the effectiveness of the Council in delivering for the residents
of Staffordshire. We therefore continue to recommend that the SRA for all Scrutiny Chairs
should be half the remuneration level appropriate for a Cabinet Member.
Scrutiny Chair

Level 5

£9,304.70

(25% of Leader)

All Party Working Group Chairmen
The four All Party Member Groups [APMGs] introduced in 2017 have become the two All
Party Working Groups [APWG]. They were, and are, member meetings with a potential for
long term impact for the benefit of Staffordshire residents. APMGs had had little opportunity
to show impact and level of accountability for our report in 2018. However, we understand
that the four APMG chairman’s roles have now become four joint chairman roles for the two
new working groups.
We have had little in the way of feedback as to how this new arrangement is working in
practice. In an endeavour to make a rational recommendation in respect of the new
arrangement we considered that it would be appropriate to recommend that the SRA should
reflect a chair/vice-chair relationship. As the joint chairs would need to be flexible between
these roles depending on the topic, frequency of meetings and so forth we have
amalgamated the allowance for a Cabinet Support Member and a vice-chair of a Select
Committee and divided this amount between each pair of chairs. Thus, our recommendation
therefore represents the same total cost as if each APWG had a chair and vice chair, in the
more traditional way:
All Party Working Group Chair

Level 8

£3,256.64

(8.75% of Leader)

Community Cabinet Support Members
The Community Cabinet Support Member is a relatively new role acting as a conduit between
the County Council and District/Borough areas. We heard conflicting opinions in respect of
this role. We heard that the role is developing and that greater responsibilities were expected
in respect of ensuring the success of the Council’s enablers. We also heard that the role
could be, and is being, delivered between all members in a District/ Borough without a
special responsibility allowance. In the Panel’s view, whilst the administration expects the
role to play a particular function that warrants remuneration for the impact it is expected to
make then we conclude that an SRA is appropriate. On balance that responsibility appears to
be different in nature but in line with the impact expected of APWGs and therefore propose
the same level of remuneration.
Community

Cabinet

Support Level 8

£3,256.64 (£8.75% of Leader)

Page 32
4

Member

Regulatory Committee Chairmen
The regulatory committees include Planning, Audit and Standards and Pensions. They each
perform a crucial regulatory role on behalf of the Council, but have the benefit of closer levels
of regular, wider and ongoing professional officer support than Scrutiny Committees. These
committees are paid a variety of different allowances at present and we have not been able
to identify any justification for the Chairman of the Planning Committee and the Select
Committee Chairmen to receive the same level of remuneration or for the Planning chairman
to receive a greater SRA than Audit and Standards or Pensions. In fact, our evidence
suggests that the work load of the Planning Committee has diminished, with a number of
meetings cancelled, and that the Audit and Standards role is now probably the most onerous
of the three - though not to such an extent that the Panel’s principle of paying each of the
three chairs at the same level should be revised. We therefore recommend that all regulatory
committee chairs should receive an allowance at the same level as recommended above for
Cabinet Support Members.
Regulatory Committee Chair

Level 7

£4,652.35

(12.5% of Leader)

Police, Fire and Crime Panel Chairman
We are aware that aspects of the governance arrangements in respect of Police and Fire
have changed. The function of the Police, Fire and Crime Panel is ‘to scrutinise the Police,
Fire and Crime Commissioner, to promote openness in the transaction of Police and Fire and
Rescue business and also to support the Commissioner in the effective exercise of their
functions'. The impact of this is unknown at this time. However, we believe that this results in
an increased breadth of responsibility and accountability as well as potentially affecting the
workload for the Chairman. We therefore recommend an allowance that is the same as a
Regulatory Committee Chairman at this time.
Police, Fire and Crime Panel
Chair

Level 7 £4,652.35

(12.5% of Leader)

Vice-Chairmen
We have questioned the level of SRAs paid to all Vice-Chairmen on a number of occasions in
the past. The practice in respect of the expectations of vice-chairmen differs considerably
between committees/panels, but the SRAs attached to the roles appear to be too high
relative to those for chairman and for the duties they typically perform. We consider that the
appropriate relativity is that the vice-chairman would receive 20% of the chairman’s
allowance.
We suggest that all scrutiny and regulatory Vice-Chairs are paid a fixed allowance. However,
we would further suggest to the Council that the Chairman of the County Council in
consultation with the Leader of the County Council can increase the allowance paid to the
Vice-Chairmen of Committees to the level of the corresponding Chairman’s allowance if they
are required to take on the responsibilities of the Chairman for a sustained period and, in
those circumstances, the Chairman’s allowance will cease for the duration of their absence.
Vice-Chair (Scrutiny Committees)
Vice-Chair (Regulatory Committees)

Level 9
£1,860.93 (5% of Leader)
Level 10 £930.46
(2.5% of Leader)

Page 33
5

Opposition Roles
Currently the majority opposition group are granted one Shadow Cabinet role. We consider
the number of SRAs payable to be reasonable, given their total representation on the County
Council at this time. It has been noted that the opposition have currently taken advantage of
the opportunity afforded within the constitution to split the allowances available between a
greater number of members. Thus, they have created three leads assigned to scrutiny
committees, each paid one third of the shadow cabinet member SRA.
Our view is that the current level of the Opposition Leader’s allowance should remain at the
same level as a Cabinet Member (Level 3). This reflects the expectations of the Council from
this role.
We have considered the SRAs payable to the Opposition Deputy Leader and the Shadow
Cabinet Member and we recognise the responsibilities assigned to the Opposition Deputy
Leader and believe that the role warrants an SRA equivalent to 35% of the Opposition
Leader’s as this reflects the expectations for the role to step up into the Opposition Leader
role when required.
In discussion with the Council Leader in 2018, it was proposed that the then current
(2017/18) arrangement of three opposition leads supporting Select Committees should be
more formally recognised through the creation of three Opposition Select Committee ViceChairman from the single Shadow Cabinet SRA together with the Opposition Deputy Leader
formally taking the Opposition Select Committee Vice-Chairmanship of the Corporate Review
Select Committee. The Panel believe that the remuneration for the Opposition Select
Committee Vice-Chairman should be the same as the Select Committee Vice Chairman (5%
of Leader). Although not adopted from our report last year this remains our recommendation.
Opposition Leader
Opposition Deputy Leader
Opposition Select Committee
Vice-Chairman

Level 3
Level 6

£18,609.38
£6,513.28

(50% of Leader)
(17.5% of Leader)

Level 9

£1,860.93

(5% of Leader)

Civic
One of the recommendations within our 2018/19 Report related to the allowances paid to the
Chairman and Vice Chairman of the County Council.
These allowances are paid under sections 3 and 5 of the Local Government Act 1972. They
are not SRAs but may be paid for the purpose of enabling the members holding these roles
to meet the expenses of their offices at an amount that the Council believes to be
reasonable.
We considered the role played by the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Council, the
number of functions each attended, and the fact that all direct expenses of the roles are met
by the Council in addition to the allowances paid.
Currently, the Chairman’s allowance is only slightly less than that of a Cabinet Member, but
while the Chairman undertakes an important, outward facing role, and must chair six
meetings a year of the County Council the position is otherwise largely ceremonial and does
not hold any budgetary responsibility, or service accountability. Our view is therefore that the

Page 34
6

Chairman’s allowance should be set at 80% of a Cabinet Member, rather than the current
96%.
The Vice-Chairman’s allowance is currently 50% of the amount paid to the Chairman. The
Vice-Chairman, however, may undertake only a very small percentage of the civic functions
(depending on the wishes of the Chairman and the number of appropriate events available to
attend) and has limited responsibilities and accountability. However, our view is that an
allowance at the same level as the regulatory committee chairmen would be a more accurate
reflection of the responsibilities of the role.
Nothing from consultation in respect of the 2019/20 Report has caused us to change our
recommendation.
Chairman
Vice-Chairman

Level 4
Level 7

£14,887.50
£4,652.35

(40% of Leader)
(12.5% of Leader)

Basic Allowance
We note that the basic allowance is intended to recognise:
(a) the time commitment of all councillors, including calls on their time for meetings with
officers, constituents and attending political group meetings; and
(b) incidental costs, such as the use of their homes, telephone calls and meetings with
constituents.
We have allowed for an increase in the basic allowance in line with the NJC pay award for
staff in 2018/19 (2%) as this is included within the Council’s constitution but make no
recommendation to increase the allowance further than that.
Basic Allowance

£9,594.47

Summary
Assuming that our recommendations are accepted by the County Council, the total cost of
the proposed scheme would be £950,296.74. The proposed scheme can, therefore, be met
within the control total of £972,023.49, which is made up of the 2018-19 scheme cost of
£952,964.21, plus £19,059.28 for inflation in line with the 2% NJC pay award for 2018-19.
The proposed scheme contains 10 levels of SRA, and a revised basic allowance as follows:
Level

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8

Amount Roles Covered
£
9,594.47 Basic Allowance
37,218.76
27,914.58
18,609.38
14,887.50
9,304.70
6,513.28
4,652.35

Council Leader
Council Deputy Leader
Cabinet Member; Opposition Leader
Council Chairman
Select Committee Chairman
Opposition Deputy Leader
Cabinet Support Member; Regulatory Chairman; Council ViceChairman; Police, Fire and Crime Panel Chairman
3,256.64 All Party Working Group Chairman; Community Cabinet Support
Member

Page 35
7

9
10

1,860.93 Select Committee Vice-Chairman;
Opposition Select Committee Representatives/Vice-Chairman
930.46 Regulatory Vice-Chairman

Travel Allowances
We are aware of the increased use in electric and hybrid vehicles. For these vehicles, we
propose that millage allowance can be claimed at the same rate per mile as motor vehicles
as currently written in the allowance scheme. This fits in-line with the Office for Low Emission
Vehicles which states that electric and hybrid cars are treated in the same way as petrol and
diesel cars for the purposes of Approved Mileage Allowance.
We make no other proposals for change to travel allowances paid to members for 2019/20.
Other allowances
Subsistence allowance
We make no proposals for change to subsistence allowances.
Meetings Allowance
We recommend that the “meeting allowance” paid to Appointed Members (i.e. faith and
parent representatives on the Prosperous Staffordshire Select Committee or any
independent members / persons serving the County Council), be increased by the same
percentage as that made to the basic allowance (2%). Therefore, the new allowance is
proposed to be £619.15 per annum.
Whilst it was raised with us that members attending outside bodies should receive an
allowance for attending meetings this suggestion came at such a late stage that we were
unable to pursue the practical implications of this suggestion. If it is a wish of the Council for
us to consider this further for our report in 2020 we will do so.
Carers/Dependents Allowance
We make no proposals for change to Carers/ Dependents allowances.

Having completed our task for this year, we would like to express our thanks to the Members
and Officers of the County Council for all their help and support in producing this report.
CHAIRMAN and Members of the
Independent Remuneration Panel on Members’ Allowances

Page 36
8

Appendix A
TERMS OF REFERENCE
1. To meet annually, on agreed dates prior to the commencement of the County Council’s
financial year, and at such other times as required on agreed dates, as the County Council
propose to amend, revoke or replace their Members’ Allowance Scheme.
2. In their considerations, to have particular regard to (i) the previous reports and
recommendations of the Independent Remuneration Panel (ii) the DETR’s Guidance on
Members’ Allowances; (iii) the relevant Regulations referred to in the Guidance and those
Regulations made in respect of the provision of pensions and pensionable remuneration for
certain members of local authorities (iv) information submitted by the Chief Executive; and (v)
such other information commissioned by the Panel, through the Chief Executive relevant to
the Panel’s Terms of Reference.
3. To make recommendations to the County Council as to the amount of basic allowances
that should be payable to its elected members.
4. To make recommendations to the County Council about the categories of members who
should receive a special responsibility allowance and as to the amount of such an allowance.
5. To make recommendations as to whether the County Council’s allowances scheme should
include an allowance in respect of the expenses of arranging for the care of children and
dependants and if it does make such a recommendation, the amount of this allowance and
the means by which it is determined.
6. To make recommendations to the County Council on which of their members, by
designation, should be entitled to pensionable remuneration.
Quote from Constitution: As of 1 April 2014 new councillors will not be able to join the
Local Government Pension Scheme. Any members who have joined the scheme before 31
March 2014 will be allowed to continue their membership for their current term of office
(renewal on re-election will not be permitted).
7. To make recommendations to the County Council on travel and subsistence allowances
for members and the level, or levels, of “meetings allowance” for appointed and co-opted
members of County Council Committees.
8. To note, in their considerations and recommendations, that the County Council must have
due regard to the recommendations of the Panel in any decision to maintain, amend, revoke
or replace their Members’ Allowance Scheme, but that ultimately, the determination of the
Scheme is a matter for the County Council.
9. To note that the Panel’s reports and recommendations, as made from time to time, will be
publicised, as soon as reasonably practicable, in at least one local newspaper, be made
available for inspection by the public at County Buildings and be published on the County
Council’s website.
2/JT/AX156Z

Page 37
9

Agenda Item 8

Staffordshire Corporate Parenting Panel

Annual Report 2018-19

Chairman’s Forward
During this year we have been developing the panel so that it is more actively
involved in improving opportunities for Staffordshire’s children in care.
We have taken part in workshops to develop our strategy, the performance
information we require to fulfil our roll and to formulate a ‘care leavers’ offer that fits
the strap line ‘If it’s not good enough for your own child then it isn’t good enough for
a young person leaving care’. We have also extended the ‘mentoring scheme’ to
include members of the panel.
I would like to thank all members of the panel for their commitment to the role and
the Vice Chairman who has taken the lead on developing the care leaver’s offer.
During the forthcoming year we will continue to develop the panel and look to see
how we get greater involvement from organisations from across Staffordshire in
improving the life chances of our ‘Looked After Children’

County Councillor Mark Sutton
Chairman of Corporate Parenting Panel
Cabinet Member for Children and Young People

Page 39

Purpose of Corporate Parenting Panel
1. The Corporate Parenting Panel is the means by which the Council discharges its
responsibility as a corporate parent and brings together councillors, senior
officers in children’s social care and partner agencies to consider key issues
which affect looked after children and care leavers.
2. The Panel actively engages with and challenges key partners to provide good
support and is ambitious for the children in its care.
3. The Panel works closely with our Children in Care Council and Care Leaver
forums to ensure all our looked after children have the best possible care, are
safe, healthy, happy and achieve. In order to achieve this, the Panel has an
annual thematic work programme in which all partners are called to account.
Governance and membership
4. The Panel provides a key role in supporting members to play their role in
ensuring accountability for our looked after children. Whilst all members of the
County Council are corporate parents, members of the Corporate Parenting
Panel champion and challenge on behalf of looked after children and Care
Leavers. The panel is proactive in challenging service delivery and advocates for
children in our care and for strong governance principles.
5. The Panel looks to see that the voice of the child is imbedded in all bodies and
informs decisions making.
6. The Work Programme is a working document and as such the Panel have
requested supplementary reports in order to further explore any areas of concern
or challenge.
7. The Panel comprises of 15 elected members of the County Council, including the
Chair who is the Cabinet Member for Children and Young People and the
Chairman of the Safe and Strong Communities Select Committee. Members are
appointed annually at the Council meeting in May.
The current members are:
Gill Burnett
Janet Eagland
John Francis
Gill Heath
Michael Greatorex
Phil Hewitt
Bryan Jones (vice chairman)

Bernard Peters
Natasha Pullen
Paul Snape
Mark Sutton (chairman)
Carolyn Trowbridge
Ron Clarke
Maureen Compton
Jill Hood

8. Members of Staffordshire’s District/ Borough Councils are co-opted onto the
Panel as champions for looked after children particularly in areas of housing and
leisure facilities.

Page 40

Ann Edgeller
Alan Pearson
Wendy Sutton

Barbara Hughes
Jill Waring
Jeremy Oates

9. The Panel is supported by the Strategic Lead for Looked after Children and
Disability Services and the Children’s Commissioner (Families and
Communities). The Facilitator of the Children in Care Council attends every
meeting to ensure the voice of the child feeds into the Panels agendas.
10. The Panel calls on professional advice and assistance/ holds to account:
 The Head teacher of the Virtual School
 Designated nurse for Looked After Children
 County Managers for Leaving Care; Adoption and Fostering
 Independent Reviewing Officers
 Youth Offending Team
 Senior practitioner colleagues
11. The Panel calls for witness accounts as appropriate, from:
 Looked after children and Care Leavers
 Care Leaver Ambassadors
 Foster carers
12. The Panel’s Terms of reference were refreshed and approved by the Panel in
2017 and are attached as Appendix.
13. Panel meets 10 times each year. It has met formally and in informal workshops to
debate key aspects of the service.
14. All panel members are required to complete Level 1 Child Protection Training as
a minimum.
Corporate Parenting Strategy 2016-19
15. The challenge and scrutiny role of the Panel is focussed on driving the
overarching Looked After Children Strategy 2016-19. The Strategy has 6 key
objectives:
 Keeping You Safe
 Where I live
 Your Education and learning
 Your wishes, views and feelings
 Becoming a Care Leaver
 Your Health and Wellbeing
16. In September 2018, we explored how as a Panel we had performed against the
commitments set out in the Strategy.

Page 41

Key Issues
17. The Panel scrutinises a performance dashboard of data at each meeting. We
have kept a watching brief on the numbers of children in care, mindful this has
been rising in line with the national picture and we have consistently shared our
concern about the impact on services particularly on social worker caseloads.
Consistently we have been assured that those children who are in care should
rightly be there, that the thresholds set are appropriate and that there continues
to be a focus on working with families to prevent an escalation and that county
managers are looking at how best to reconfigure services and staff to more
creatively manage the volume of work.
18. The number of looked after children averaged around 1100 during the year. We
know placement costs vary between £800 (foster care) to £3500-£7000
(externally provided residential care) and accept that this has placed a significant
financial burden on the Council.
19. We have received regular updates on the impact of the pressures on the service.
We welcome that the Council has afforded an additional £1.1m in the current and
next year, to ease social worker caseloads.
20. We have explored reasons behind the increase and have queried the relationship
between the service and the Courts. We understand there is a good working
relationship with the local family justice board and CAFCAS Board and they meet
regularly with the Judiciary. The quality of work presented to court is of a
consistently good quality. However, it seems that where local authorities are
applying to court for removal of children, the courts are not disposed to pre-empt
final decisions and are reluctant to remove children until proceedings have
concluded. There is also a reluctance to separate siblings.
Key achievements
21. The Corporate Parenting Panel play a key role in promoting, monitoring and
challenging service improvement and achievements.
22. The Staffordshire Pledge reflects what matters to young people in care and all
Corporate Parenting Panel Members have signed up to commit to uphold the
Pledge and support young people to improve outcomes for them. Young people
hold members of the panel to account for how well they have supported the
pledge when they ‘take over’ the meeting each November.
23. The Panel is ambitious about looked after children’s futures and enjoy
opportunities to celebrate their success and achievements with them.
24. The Panel wants to listen to looked after children’s opinions and ensure that
these feed into practice and developments in policies and services.

Page 42

25. We have been kept up to date with progress against looked after children’s
Transformation. We know that resilient families will enjoy better lifestyles, better
outcomes for their children and will reduce demand on council services.
26. The transformed service will support families and communities and work
proactively with partners and communities to identify what service is there, what
works and what’s missing to achieve an affordable mix of support from
professional, the voluntary sector, communities, families and friends that allow
people to meet their needs.
27. In terms of Children’s Transformation, we understand the clear objectives for
looked after children, are
 To impact the numbers of children and young people entering the system
 To reduce, where appropriate, the length of time children and young people
spend in the system
 To influence efficiencies in placement costs, which align need to resource.
Keeping You Safe
28. In recent years, there has been further training developed around Child Sexual
Exploitation (CSE) and an increased awareness around how we manage risk.
29. We have been concerned over incidence of grooming of looked after children.
We are assured that residential staff work closely with Police colleagues to
safeguard young people in their care at risk of exploitation. The Commissioner for
Children’s Services will bring to Panel in 2019-20 a Strategy around Contextual
Safeguarding for looked after children which will inform future commissioning
decisions.
30. In March we heard about an initiative to reduce the criminalisation of looked after
children and care leavers. The County Manager, Youth Offending Service (YOS),
described the national protocol in which partners should work together to reduce
unnecessary criminalisation of looked after children and care leavers. The key
principles are aligned with those of corporate parenting.
31. As a Corporate Parenting Panel we are tasked to ensure that systems are in
place to identify all looked after children who come into contact with the criminal
justice system and build an accurate picture of their offending, challenging
behaviours and any exploitation risks they face. A restorative justice training
programme has already led to a reduction in the numbers of children in the YOS.
32. YOS hold data on looked after children and the service is performance managed.
The data does not extend beyond care leavers, but national data does and work
is ongoing to cross match this data across vulnerabilities. As a panel, we will
then scrutinise these findings.
33. During 2017-18, the number of unaccompanied asylum seeking children (UASC)
increased within Staffordshire. It is recognised that many of these young people
had experienced significant adverse life events both within their countries of

Page 43

origin, and during their journeys to the UK. During 2018/19, the numbers
remained stable at 6-7% (70 UASC).
Your wishes, views and feelings
34. We receive an update to every Panel from the Children’s Voice Project and are
supportive of their work. We look forward to opportunities to engage first hand
with young people, particularly at the annual Take Over meeting where they plan
and deliver their own agenda and chair the meeting.
35. We are appreciative of the hard work that young people from the Children in Care
Council (CiCC) put into the Take Over meeting held annually in November. This
year we heard their presentations on the outcome of their Big Vote 2017-18
across the 6-11 years, 12-16 year age groups and Care Leavers; from their
experience of attending the Children in Care Council Regional Conference 2018
and their plans for 2019.
36. The Big Vote 2017-18 had highlighted that what mattered to young people was
support for understanding their past (6-11 years) and support preparing for their
GCSEs (12-16 years) and Managing finances and budgeting (Care Leavers) and
all these issues have now been addressed and actions implemented.
37. We learned that the CiCC had entered ballot papers to support consultation
organised by the Staffordshire Council of Voluntary Services (Make Your Mark
2018) and that the top issue for Staffordshire (replicated across the UK) was
mental health. We have assured the young people that, as corporate parents, we
take this seriously and we are considering ways in which we can help.
38. We are pleased that the Children in Care Council shadow our Work Programme
and are able to feedback their thoughts into our meetings via their facilitator.
39. In August, the Independent Reviewing Officers presented their annual report for
the period 2017-18. With a responsibility for overseeing child protection
conferences; reviewing activity, care planning and review arrangements, the
service supports a commitment of continuity of chairperson for those children
who are subject to a child protection plan and who then become looked after.
40. We recognise that this has been a challenging year for the service in terms of
staffing which has resulted in some unavoidable inconsistency of support for
some children. We shared concern over the resilience of staff, the levels of
agency staff required and what appeared to be unsustainable increased
workloads.
41. Nevertheless, we were pleased there is good feedback from conferences and
that a pilot of a new model for Child Protection Conferences has been completed
and rolled out. The service continues to strive for child focussed reviews.
42. We are pleased that at least half the reviews which occurred between August
2017-18 had children attending them. Young people need relationships based on
trust to confidently express their wishes and feelings.

Page 44

Your Health and Wellbeing
43. The Looked after Children’s designated nurse highlighted the achievements,
progress and challenges in meeting the health needs of our looked after children,
in February. A holistic health assessment for every child in care is a statutory
requirement and is a valuable process. The nurse undertakes 6 monthly quality
assurances of Initial Health Assessments (IHAs) which have been undertaken by
commissioned medical staff and gives constructive feedback.
44. We are concerned about performance data around IHAs in Staffordshire which is
disappointing, although it appears to be an improving picture and we have
requested regular updates. The slippage reported to our February meeting was
attributed to significant changes in commissioning and service re-configuration.
Although all assessments are now being completed in timeframe, there is some
delay in completing paperwork. In the meantime, we are assured that the quality
of assessments is excellent, the plans are smart and no child’s health needs are
unmet.
45. We are pleased that there have been developments around young people’s
health including the development of a Health Passport for care leavers. The
Good Practice Guide for processes around admitting children into care has been
updated to include a request that initial health assessments take place within 5
working days and for initial health assessments to be completed by Health within
20 working days.
Where I live
46. We are assured by the County Manager, Prevention and Placement that the inhouse accommodation is of consistently good quality and offers value for money
and that all residential homes where our children are placed are Ofsted rated
either good or outstanding.
47. Members of the Panel undertake Regulation 44 visits according to a rota. These
monthly visits are a statutory requirement and are conducted by an Independent
Person. While member’s presence is not a requirement, Ofsted have said that it
represents good practice. We are encouraged to look at the relevant Statement
of Purpose for the home before a visit as these set out the particular purpose for
each including accommodation, the age/profile of children accommodated, and
staff ratio. Members comments are included in the report which is sent to Ofsted.
48. We know that it can be very difficult for the placement team to find suitable
accommodation anywhere in the UK for the most challenging young people. We
endorsed the action taken by staff and wholly support them in their efforts to
restore trust and stability to a home following a challenging episode this year.
49. We are pleased that learning from this incident has resulted in changes including
consistency in how staff manage and report missing episodes; provision of
alternative education offers for young people who fail to engage in mainstream or
in on-site teachers; and an escalation process to raise concerns with partners.

Page 45

50. In October we learned about the matching and impact assessments which are
an integral part of the placing process; also the quality assurance elements for
the process and the robust placement monitoring post placement.
51. All cases are reviewed at a minimum of every 6 months and a watching brief is
maintained on all independent sector placements to monitor and predict future
financial commitment, to avoid drift where plans are in place, to rehabilitate to
family/carers or to step down to less expensive resource. We are assured that all
family and friends options are explored before looking further afield,
notwithstanding that this sometimes involves some measured risk.
52. Currently social workers are challenged by working with families at a distance
from Staffordshire and we strongly support a case for creating more in house
provision to afford greater flexibility and control to the Council and to avoid the
service falling victim to the ‘bidding war’ for available independent provision.
53. A presentation from the Family and Friends Team in May 2018 explained how
they offer a full range of fostering services to Family and Friends Carers. The
focus of this team is permanence for the child and we acknowledged that Ofsted
had judged the service could demonstrate exceptional commitment to achieving
permanence for the children in its care.
54. A Member of the panel who sits on the Fostering Panel values that work as a
positive experience. Generally, we have asked for greater involvement in
Fostering Recruitment especially when the tour campaign hits our patch, by
including pamphlets in our leaflet drops or by attending other events locally.
55. We asked whether assessment reports are too lengthy and onerous for social
workers but we accept that these need to be comprehensive and analytical and
to be understood by a wide audience – judges, carers and professionals. We
asked for more information around the number of carers presented to the panel
but who did not become approved and how many are cancelled out during the
recruitment process.
56. In August, we heard from the County Manager, Fostering Service, on the
challenges and achievements of that service. By far the majority of children in
care are placed with Staffordshire foster carers. As at March 2018, the service
had 370 Approved Fostering Households offering various types of care, though
mostly General Fostering (on a task centred basis, long term or specialist
Resilience Care).
57. All local authorities encounter recruitment challenges and we are pleased to
support the campaign wherever we can, directly or indirectly via social media,
with an emphasis on local carers for local children. We welcome the move
towards Regionalisation and the opportunities that presents.
58. We agree with the County Manager that retention is as important as recruitment
and we are pleased the service has realigned how it supports carers offering
intensive support during challenging episodes.

Page 46

59. Leon Hudson, a Resilience Foster Carer shared his positive experience with us
and spoke favourably about the support and networking opportunities he had
accessed.
60. The service annual report 2017-18 was presented in March and the County
Manager described a challenging year in terms of capacity as they had been
required to provide a much higher level of care. Consistently high numbers of
looked after children meant foster carers had very few periods without a
placement and looked for greater support.
61. Nevertheless, we are pleased that stability is strong; the number of supported
lodgings have increased over the year by 8-9 and that 70-80% of care leavers
now ‘stay put’ with their foster carers, a trend which is likely to continue.
62. We are delighted each year to attend the foster carers annual BBQ; their
Christmas Fayre and to have some presence at Fostering Fortnight. We actively
promote foster carers whenever there is opportunity and extend our full support
to the recruitment campaign.
63. In October, we received the Annual Performance report from the Adoption
Service. The focus on timeliness reflects research about best outcomes: the
sooner a child achieves permanence, the better their life outcomes. In year
performance is good and significantly better than last year despite a sometime
challenging court environment and the time between a child entering care and
being placed with a forever family has halved.
64. We share the Adoption Service ambition around placing those harder to place
children – older children, BME and sibling groups and while this sometimes
involves measured risk, we are pleased performance is good.
65. Despite ongoing recruitment and assessment activity, there continues to be a
shortage of suitable adoptive families coming forward but we consistently warn
against speeding up the process at the expense of secure and permanent
matches.
66. We are confident that Adoption Regionalisation will bring opportunities. In April,
we heard from the Head of Operations at the North Midlands Regional Adoption
and Permanency Partnership. The Partnership which involves the County
Council, Shropshire Council, Telford and Wrekin Council and Stoke-on-Trent
Council is still in the design phase recognises that Adoption is just one option for
permanency and so there is a focus on permanency for all looked after children
who are unlikely to return home. We know that to achieve stability by
permanency is the greatest factor impacting on young people’s outcomes.
Your Education and Learning
67. We receive regular reports from the head teacher of the Virtual School and are
encouraged by their progress, hard work and direction. In July the head teacher
presented on Attendance and Exclusions, a key focus of the Virtual School. We
accept that unauthorised absence leads directly to poor grades and we welcome

Page 47

the Virtual School working with social workers to reduce absences to a minimum.
We are pleased the Virtual School is challenging attitudes which prevail nationally
towards looked after children so that schools feel supported and able to embrace
and welcome looked after children.
68. We welcome the work the Virtual School is doing with schools to encourage them
to be attachment aware and we see where schools have embraced this
approach, exclusions have reduced. We encourage schools to adopt behaviour
policies which are flexible enough to accommodate looked after children’s trauma
and attachment issues. Training delivered in Tamworth is already seeing positive
results and we hope that this training will be rolled out around the county.
69. Wherever we can influence attitudes and challenge practices as school
governors, in support of looked after children, we will. We encourage the Virtual
School to actively challenge exclusions.
70. In November, we attended a Virtual School conference on Attainment for years
9,10 and 11. A cohort of aspiration mentors for looked after children were initiated
from September/October and we have accepted the opportunity to be among that
number.
71. In January, we received a presentation from Ryan Atkins. Formerly in
Staffordshire foster care, Ryan was amongst the first cohort to benefit from the
aspiration mentoring scheme being mentored by Chief Executive, John
Henderson. Ryan spoke of his journey in accessing Welbeck Sixth Form Defence
College.
72. We received an overview of 2017-18 activity in the annual report of the Virtual
School in January and which set out the priorities for 2018-19.
73. In terms of academic achievement, we recognise that cohorts are very different
from one another while some made excellent progress in 2018, others slipped.
Becoming a Care Leaver
74. In July, in response to the requirement legislated in the Social Care Act 2017, to
consult on and publish a local offer for its care leavers, we held a workshop
session. Lead by the County Manager, Throughcare, we learned about the
developments around young people leaving care. A series of Government
initiatives have placed duties on local authorities in respect of their
responsibilities towards young people who had or were leaving their care.
75. Significantly more care leavers are NEET than their peers (40%:1%), more likely
to end up in prison; be homeless or experience mental illness.
76. Our Vice Chairman attended a conference arranged by the Public Policy
Exchange in London in July: Raising Aspirations: Supporting Young People from
Care to Independence for Care Leavers and has since driven this agenda for the
panel. The conference tackled issues including the over-representation of care
leaver in the criminal justice system; training for front line services and job
opportunities.

Page 48

77. We have appointed District Champions for Care Leavers to drive the Local Offer
forward. These are:
 Tamworth – Jeremy Oates
 Stafford – Ann Edgeller
 South Staffordshire – Wendy Sutton
 Staffordshire Moorlands – Keith Flunder
 Newcastle – Gill Burnett
 East Staffordshire – Bernard Peters
 Cannock – Alan Pearson
 Lichfield – Janet Eagland
 Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children – Carolyn Trowbridge
78. We embraced this opportunity to focus on what we can do to improve their
outcomes and as a Care Leaver District Champions Group we will take
ownership of this initiative and drive it forward. On 15 March 2019, we met with
Mark Riddell, National Implementation Advisor for Care leavers to help us.
79. In April, we conducted a further workshop to consider how as corporate parents
we can actively contribute to delivering the Care Leaver local offer. We made
recommendations under the headings of:






Accommodation and Housing
Finances
Education, Training and Employment
Health and Wellbeing
Relationships and Participation in Society.

Priorities for 2019/20
80. In 2019/20 we will continue to implement the Corporate Parenting Strategy,
ensuring we align activity with the actions identified and link in with other council
services and wider partner agencies. We will aim to ensure that the participation
of children and young people will be central to all that we do and we will seriously
address the key issues identified by them, namely ‘Support for understanding our
past’ (6-11 years); Support preparing for GCSEs (12 – 16 years); Managing
Finances and Budgeting’ and ‘Preparation for Adulthood’ (Care Leavers); and
Mental Health.
81. The annual thematic work programme for 2019/20 will include:





Contextual Safeguarding for looked after children (addressing CSE,
Missing, County Lines, Criminal Exploitation)
Looked After Children’s Health including Mental health – re-evaluated and
recommissioned service & Physical Health, Health Assessments.
Monitoring delivery of the local offer to care leavers in Staffordshire
Progress on Adoption Regionalisation

Page 49




Progress on implementing Improvement Plan following Ofsted ILACS
inspection.
Progress on Children’s Services Transformation.

County Councillor Mark Sutton
Cabinet Member for Children and Young People
Chairman of the Corporate Parenting Panel

Implications
1. Resources and Value for Money - There are no direct financial implications
arising from this annual report. Financial performance, namely resources,
budget and spend in relation to discharging the Panel’s responsibilities is
regularly reported through the Council’s budgetary procedures.
2. Equalities and Legalities – it will be an ongoing responsibility for the panel to
promote, support and respect the identity of looked after children and care
leavers. There are no specific legal implications to the report.
3. Risk - The key issue facing the Panel in its oversight and challenge function is
the capacity and financial pressures posed by the increase in looked after
children population on all service areas supporting looked after children, and
ensuring that as effective corporate parents, this does not hinder the care,
support, aspirations or continued improvement in outcomes for our children in
care.
4. Climate Change - There are no implications for the local environment.
Contact Officer
Carol Bloxham, Scrutiny and Support Officer
Telephone: 01785 276155
E-mail: carol.bloxham@staffordshire.gov.uk

List of Appendices/Background Papers
Corporate Parenting Panel Terms of Reference (Appendix)
Corporate Parenting Strategy 2016-19
Minutes from meetings of Corporate Parenting Panel May 2018 - April 2019

Page 50

APPENDIX

Corporate Parenting Panel - Terms of Reference
Context
Corporate parenting is the collective responsibility of the Council to prioritise the
needs of children in care and seek for them the same outcomes any good parent
would want for their own children. The Corporate Parenting Panel is designed to
provide the necessary leadership that drives an ambitious and multi agency
approach to improving outcomes for children in care and care leavers by raising
aspirations, building stronger relationships and taking time to listen to the voice of
the child.
The Panel is a non-political advisory body to the Children’s Executive and is chaired
by the Cabinet Member with responsibility for Children and Families. The Panel does
not take executive decisions but provides leadership and a governance structure for
corporate parenting in order to drive forward the outcomes for looked after children
and care leavers.
Objectives of the Panel
To provide strategic leadership and hold partners to account for performance against
strategies to improve all outcomes for looked after children and young people.
To act as advocates for looked after children and young people and to ensure that
the Councils Pledge to looked after children and young people is delivered.
To ensure that looked after children are protected and supported to develop as
healthy citizens, able to participate in their community.
To monitor the effectiveness of the Virtual School in improving the educational
attainment of looked after children and young people, to narrow the gap of
achievement between them and their peers and to maximise opportunities for
training and career placements.
To act as champions to increase all County Councillors’ awareness and
understanding of looked after children and young people and their needs and
experiences and consider how they can contribute to improving outcomes.
These objectives will be delivered by the Panel in the following ways:Make sure the whole Council and partner agencies commit to the principles of
excellent corporate parenting.

Page 51

Lead on the development, review and promotion of the Corporate Parenting Strategy
across the Council and involve partners in order to improve services and respond to
changing need.
Be well informed on Government legislation, guidance and policy concerning
children and young people in care and their implications for the County Council.
Ensure a dialogue with the Children in Care Council to enable participation of looked
after children and care leavers in the corporate parenting agenda and in influencing
service re-design.
Receive regular reports, as appropriate, on the level and quality of services and
scrutinising performance management information to ensure that any shortfalls are
properly addressed.
In accordance with regulation 44 of the Children’s Homes Regulations 2001,
accompanying officers of the County Council on their visits to children’s homes; and
accompanying officers on Quality Assurance visits to independent residential
providers each month to facilitate communication between looked after children, front
line staff and councillors.
Meet children placed in foster homes and hear from their carers and to monitor the
ongoing commitment to providing support, training and clarity of expectations to
foster carers to achieve excellent and high quality care.
Celebrate the successes of looked after children and care leavers.
Link as appropriate with the Safe and Strong Select Committee and develop a
relationship with the Safeguarding Children’s Board.
Hold partners to account for their role in the delivery of services to looked after
children and care leavers
Encourage all partners whether health, education or social care services or the
voluntary sector to work in an integrated way in the best interests of looked after
children and care leavers
To appoint elected members as champions for children in care in respect of the
following themes:
 Housing
 Employment and training opportunities within council departments and with
partner agencies
 Health (including mental health)
 Educational attainment and access to higher education
 Foster carer recruitment and retention
Membership
The Panel shall comprise no more than 20 Members (15 County Councillors plus cooptees) and may include any member of the County Council representing a county-

Page 52

wide spread and be appointed at the annual meeting of the Council. Representatives
from partner organisations may be co-opted onto the Panel as appropriate. The
Cabinet Member with responsibility for Children is chairman of the Panel.
Co-opted membership is invited from the eight District Councils; a foster carer and
representatives of the Children in Care Council.
All members will receive appropriate training.
Arrangements for Meetings:
The Panel shall meet every month, agree a work programme annually and review it
at each meeting. The meetings of the Panel are held in private session.
Meetings of the Panel shall be conducted in accordance with the Procedural
Standing Orders in Section 11, of the Councils Constitution although meetings may
comprise a range of different formats, visits to different locations and informal
meetings with children and young people and those who support them.
The Corporate Parenting Panel will report to the appropriate Select Committee, the
Local Safeguarding Children Board and the Health and Wellbeing Board as ne

Page 53

